THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Aisha Taylor, Commissioner
Susan S. Barden, Chair/Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2010

S.C. SUPREME COURT

WCC File No. 0917785
Appellate Case No. 2018-000354

Paula Russell,

Petitioner,

v.

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,

&

Illinois National Insurance Company,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Other Counsel of Record:

Johnnie W. Baxley
Willson Jones Carter & Baxley, P.A.
421 Wando Park Boulevard, Suite 100
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
PH: (843) 284-1080
Attorney for Respondents

C. Danial Vega, Esquire, Bar. No. 71639

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing the Petitioner Paula Russell's appeal under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Paula Russell (hereinafter “Russell”) filed a workers’ compensation claim against Respondents Wal-Mart and Illinois National Insurance Company (hereinafter “Wal-Mart,” collectively) on February 2, 2010, alleging she suffered compensable injuries by accident arising from a 2009 workplace injury in the course of her employment with Wal-Mart. (App. p. 1). The parties thereafter appeared before Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. on April 3, 2011, and he issued an order dated June 8, 2011, in which he found Russell was entitled to benefits and outlined her entitlement. (App. pp. 3–8). Thereafter, Ms. Russell developed new radicular symptoms and requested a review of her previous award of benefits on the ground of change of condition for the worse pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. section 42-17-90. (App. p. 12). Wal-Mart denied Ms. Russell’s claims, so the parties were heard on February 11, 2013, by Commissioner Andrea C. Roche who agreed Russell had suffered a change of condition for the worse, and by order dated August 5, 2013, found Russell was credible, found she was temporarily disabled, and ordered she was to receive benefits. (App. pp. 15–17).

Wal-Mart then filed an appeal to the appellate panel of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission (hereinafter “commission”) alleging Commissioner Roche erred in not relying solely upon objective evidence in her determination that Russell’s change of condition for the worse was compensable. That appellate panel agreed and issued an order on January 30, 2014, finding Russell had failed to demonstrate by objective evidence that she sustained a compensable change of condition. (App. pp. 37–41). Russell then properly instituted an appeal with the Court of Appeals arguing the commission applied the wrong legal standard in determining she had not suffered a change of condition for the worse. (App. pp. 42–43). The parties were then heard by the Court of Appeals on October 20, 2015. The Court of Appeals issued a decision on January 20,

2016, stating the commission erred as a matter of law in requiring Russell rely solely on objective evidence and remanding to the commission with instructions to issue an order with review by the proper evidentiary standard. (App. p. 112).

On remand from the Court of Appeals, the commission assigned the case to a single commissioner, Commissioner Michael R. Campbell. (App. p. 140). Commissioner Campbell reviewed the entire record on remand and concluded Russell sustained a compensable change of condition for the worse and awarded benefits. (App. pp. 132, 144). Wal-Mart then again appealed the order of the Commissioner. (App. pp. 146–51). The parties were again heard by an appellate panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission and the panel issued an order reversing the order of Commissioner Campbell in its entirety, vacating the evidence of the record with regard to benefits, and remanding for a hearing de novo. (App. pp. 211–13).

Ms. Russell then timely filed an appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (App. pp. 216–17). Upon receipt of Russell's Notice of Appeal, Wal-Mart filed a motion to dismiss claiming the appeal was interlocutory. (App. pp. 219–32). Russell appropriately and timely replied to Wal-Mart's motion, arguing the appeal was a permissible interlocutory appeal, but the Court of Appeals issued an order dismissing her appeal on December 8, 2017. (App. p. 248). Russell therefore timely filed a motion to reconsider, which the Court of Appeals denied on February 1, 2018. (App. p. 275). Ms. Russell then submitted a petition for a Writ of Certiorari on March 1, 2018, asserting one proposed issue for review. The Court issued an order on May 25, 2018, granting review of Ms. Russell's proposed issue.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case has a complicated history going back to 2009; however, given the current posture of this case, a full recitation of the facts is not necessary.¹ This claim began in 2009 when Ms. Russell suffered work related injuries to her back and pelvis. (App. p. 7). After initially receiving a permanent partial disability award, Russell developed new radicular symptoms in 2012 that required surgery. Russell, therefore, requested a review of her previous award on the ground of change of condition for the worse. (App. pp. 12, 173–76). Wal-Mart denied Ms. Russell’s claims, provided no medical treatment, and fired her instead of honoring her request to return to work at a location that did not require she make a difficult, hours-long drive. (App. pp. 15–16). The parties were heard on February 11, 2013, by Commissioner Andrea C. Roche, who agreed Russell had suffered a change of condition for the worse, found Russell was temporarily disabled, found Russell was credible, and ordered Russell receive benefits, including surgery of the lumbar spine. (App. pp. 15–17). Wal-Mart then filed an appeal to the appellate panel of the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission and continued to provide no benefits or medical treatment. (App. p. 18).

In Wal-Mart’s 2013 Form 30, request for Commission Review, it argued Commissioner Roche erred in finding Ms. Russell sustained a change of condition for the worse. (App. p. 18). Wal-Mart, likewise, in its 2013 brief to the commission, focused solely on the issue of compensability and did not address the award of benefits. (App. pp. 19–25). Wal-Mart’s compensability argument specifically relied on the claim that Russell had not presented “objective evidence” to prove she suffered a change of condition for the worse. (App. p. 21). The commission

¹ A full recitation of the facts from the date of injury until the case was presented before the appellate panel of the commission in 2017 can be found at appendix pages 168-84.

agreed, essentially stating that objective evidence is required to prove a physical change of condition. Since the commission found Russell had not presented any objective testimony other than self-serving complaints, it found Russell was not credible, and it found Russell had not suffered a change of condition for the worse. (App. pp. 37–41). After receiving the commission’s order, Russell properly filed an appeal with the Court of Appeals. (App. pp. 42–43).

On January 20, 2016, the Court of Appeals found the commission “erred as a matter of law by imposing a requirement to the statute mandating that a claimant prove a change of condition for the worse with objective evidence.”² (App. p. 112). The court stated that the commission ignored the fact that both of Russell’s authorized treating physicians testified to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Russell suffered a change of condition for the worse. (App. p. 112). In fact, no physician had testified or opined Russell did not suffer a change of condition. (See App. p. 112). The Court of Appeals stated that despite the contentions of the commission that the Commissioners considered the record as a whole, it was evident from the transcript that the commission relied solely on the MRI’s and was requiring objective evidence to prove a change of condition. (App. p. 112). The court, therefore, found the commission erred as a matter of law and remanded to the commission with instructions to use a preponderance of the evidence standard in its review of the record. (App. p. 112).

After remand, the commission assigned the case to a single commissioner, Commissioner Michael R. Campbell. (App. p. 140). Commissioner Campbell reviewed the entire record and concluded Russell met her burden of proving a change of condition for the worse and found Russell was entitled to medical care and temporary total disability benefits, for she was not at maximum

² The court noted that the commission specifically found “the preponderance of the evidence indicates that there was no objective difference between [Russell’s] MRI scan after the award and the MRI scan before the original award.”

medical improvement. (App. pp. 132, 144). Commissioner Campbell's 2017 order included a detailed summary of the record and 124 Findings of Fact. (App. pp. 114–44).

Wal-Mart again appealed the order of the Commissioner and continued to provide no benefits or medical treatment. (App. pp. 146–51). In its 2017 Form 30 Request for Commission Review, Wal-Mart alleged 32 errors, covering all aspects of the claim, including Russell's change of condition for the worse, the compensability of that change, her entitlement to medical benefits, and her entitlement to temporary benefits. (App. pp. 146–51). Russell, on the other hand, argued the preponderance of the evidence supported Commissioner Campbell's finding of a change of condition for the worse; she argued the panel could not properly hear arguments with regard to her entitlement to benefits for those issues had been abandoned when Wal-Mart failed to properly raise and brief those issues in its 2013 appeal to the commission; and she argued that a *de novo* hearing would be improper. (App. pp. 185–197).

On September 7, 2017, the commission's appellate panel issued an order stating Commissioner Campbell "simply reinstated the 2013 award of Commissioner Roche and erred by not conducting a full evidentiary hearing." (App. p. 211). The order further stated that "a full evidentiary hearing on the issue of benefits" should have been held and that a failure to hold a second evidentiary hearing amounted to a due process violation.³ (App. p. 211). The commission then ordered "the Single Commissioner's March 20, 2017, Order is hereby VACATED and REMANDED to the Single Commissioner to conduct a full evidentiary hearing." (App. p. 213). Additionally, the commission ordered that the hearing should be a *de novo* hearing. (App. p. 213). The order also states the commission did not—and did not need to—consider the *threshold* issue

³ See App. p. 113 wherein counsel for Wal-Mart objected to the holding of an evidentiary hearing, noting accurately that doing so would be "improper from a legal and procedural perspective."

of compensability, but the commission still reversed Commissioner Campbell's findings on that issue. (App. p. 212). The order of the commission cited no error in Commissioner Campbell's order with regard to his findings on compensability; it only asserts that he should have conducted an evidentiary hearing on benefits. On that point, the order also completely ignores Ms. Russell's argument, which she briefed for the commission, that the doctrine of issue preclusion or the law of case doctrine precluded many of Wal-Mart's issues from reconsideration, for they were not properly preserved. (*See* App. pp. 167–97). As a result of the nature of the commission's order, the fact Ms. Russell has received no medical treatment during the entire litigation of the change of condition, the overall duration of the claim, the ever-growing procedural history of the claim, and the fact she will not have an adequate remedy after remand, she properly and timely filed an appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (App. pp. 216–18)

Upon receipt of Russell's Notice of Appeal, Wal-Mart filed a motion to dismiss and supporting memorandum. (App. pp. 219–32). Wal-Mart essentially argued that Russell's appeal was interlocutory and thus not immediately appealable. (App. pp. 223–24). Russell, however, did not dispute that the order was not a final order, but instead relied upon the exception to the final order requirement that is provided in S.C. Code Ann. section 1-23-380. (App. pp. 237–38). The crux of Russell's argument was that her case is very similar to *Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd.*, in which this Court stated the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing Hilton's appeal. 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719 (2016). Specifically, Russell argued that in both her case and in *Hilton*, the commission ordered a new trial without regard to the law of the case and without citing an error to justify why such an extreme remedy was appropriate, and in both the commission considered and ruled upon issues that should have been precluded from reconsideration by the doctrine of issue preclusion or the law of the case doctrine. (App. pp. 250–53).

The Court of Appeals, however, dismissed Russell’s appeal, stating that the underlying order was not immediately appealable. (App. pp. 248). In support of its decision, the court cited section 1-23-380, but only referenced the language requiring an exhaustion of administrative remedies and did not address the applicability of the exception provided in section 1-23-380. (App. pp. 248). Russell, therefore, filed a motion for rehearing or reconsideration, asserting the Court of Appeals overlooked the exception provided in section 1-23-380, that the court misapprehended how the commission has created a perpetual cycle of orders and appeals that denies Ms. Russell an adequate remedy, and that the court overlooked the similarities between this case and *Hilton*. (App. pp. 250–253). The Court of Appeals, nevertheless, asserted that it had not overlooked or misapprehended any material fact or principle of law and denied Russell’s motion for reinstatement on February 1, 2018. (App. p. 275). Ms. Russell then submitted a petition for a Writ of Certiorari on March 1, 2018, asserting one proposed issue for review. The Court issued an order on May 25, 2018, granting review of Ms. Russell’s proposed issue.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appeals from administrative agencies are governed by the Administrative Procedures Act (APA). *Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd.*, 418 S.C. 245, 249, 791 S.E.2d 719, 721 (2016) (citing *Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 76, 744 S.E.2d 552, 557 (2013)). Section 1-23-380(A) of the APA states a “preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy.” This Court has held that whether an intermediate action or ruling is immediately reviewable is to be decided on a case-by-case basis i.e., whether a review of the final decision would not provide an adequate remedy. *The Island Packet v. Kittrell*, 365 S.C. 332, 339, 617 S.E.2d 730, 734 (2005) (interpreting identical language in a previous version of section 1-23-380). In *Hilton*, this Court

further permitted immediate Supreme Court review of a Court of Appeals' dismissal of an appeal of an interlocutory order of the Workers' Compensation Commission. 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719. Consequently, *Hilton* reflects this Court's power to review a Court of Appeal's decision to dismiss an interlocutory appeal and *Hilton* should control this Court's analysis of this case.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN DISMISSING THE PETITIONER PAULA RUSSELL'S APPEAL UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 1-23-380.

This appeal was immediately appealable under section 1-23-380 of the South Carolina Code. The Court of Appeals, therefore, ostensibly overlooked or failed to give adequate consideration to the exceptions upon which Russell premised her appeal. In the court's order dismissing her appeal, the court only addressed the exhaustion of administrative remedies and final decision portions of section 1-23-380. (App. p. 248). Likewise, the court again appeared to have failed to adequately consider the applicability of that exception to this appeal in its denial of Russell's motion for reinstatement. (See App. p. 275). Therefore, Russell requests this Court remand this matter to the Court of Appeals so that it may adjudicate this appeal, for a failure to do so will deprive Russell of an adequate remedy.

I. The Court of Appeals should have heard Russell's appeal pursuant to *Hilton*, for the errors of the commission in this case are parallel to the errors the commission committed in *Hilton*.

The Court of Appeals should have heard Russell's appeal pursuant to *Hilton*, for the errors of the commission in this case are parallel to the errors the commission committed in *Hilton* where it was found the claimant would not have an adequate remedy if he waited to appeal. In *Hilton*, this Court essentially found that the commission erred in two ways: First, the commission considered issues that were not properly before it, which this Court held was an error. *Hilton*, 418 S.C. at 249–51, 791 S.E.2d at 721–22. Second, this Court held the commission erred for, “instead

of simply remanding . . . , it vacated the single commissioner’s order, thus ordering both parties begin anew, regardless of the ultimate . . . determination. *Id.* at 252, 791 S.E.2d at 722. The *Hilton* Court ultimately held that when “the commission has in effect ordered a new trial without regard to the matters raised by the appealing party and without any explanation why such an extreme remedy is appropriate,” the aggrieved party is without an adequate remedy if required to wait until the final agency decision. *Id.* at 251–52, 791 S.E.2d at 722–23. If the commission’s order in *Hilton* was allowed to stand, this Court believed, “a party could face the possibility of repeated unexplained ‘do overs’ before a final decision of the commission.” *Id.* at 252, 791 S.E.2d at 723.

The two pivotal errors identified by this Court in *Hilton* that made the underlying order immediately appealable are present in this case: The commission considered issues that were barred from reconsideration by the doctrine of issue preclusion and the law of the case doctrine, and the commission, instead of simply remanding on those issues, vacated the single commissioner’s order. (App. pp. 14–16).

A. The commission disregarded the rules of issue preservation

The commission blatantly disregarded the rules of issue preservation. In South Carolina, it is axiomatic that if no authority is cited in support of a proposition or if an argument is conclusory, the issue is abandoned. *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg’l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 437, 540 S.E.2d 113, 120 (Ct. App. 2000). Furthermore, “this Court has also held that general exceptions, . . . are too ambiguous to fulfil the notice requirements of due process and do not preserve an issue for review.” *Hilton*, 418 S.C. at 250, 791 S.E.2d at 722 (citing *Jones v. Anderson Cotton Mills*, 205 S.C. 247, 31 S.E.2d 447 (1944)). The commission itself has further, by regulation, expanded the requirements for issue preservation on appeals from the single commissioner to the appellate panel of the commission and the commission actually includes

relevant language from the regulation on the Form 30 it provides. (See App. p. 18 for an example of the Form 30). Specifically, the commission requires that the grounds for appeal be set out in detail and also that they be presented in the form of questions presented. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-701(3)(a) (2012). If a raised issue does not meet the requirements espoused by this state's appellate courts and by the commission, the related findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become the law of the case. See *Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings*, 367 S.C. 161, 165, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct. App. 2005) *abrogated on other grounds by Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 80, 427 S.E.2d 552 (2013).

Here, in 2017 the commission remanded to the single commissioner on the issue of benefits, but that issue was not briefed to the commission when this case first went before it in 2013 nor were the issues adequately noted on Wal-Mart's 2013 Form 30. (App. pp. 21–24). While Wal-Mart did summarily note exceptions to some of the findings regarding Russell's entitlement to benefits in the 2013 order of Commissioner Roche, those are insufficient. Wal-Mart must rely only on the following statement in support of its claim that it adequately preserved any issue other than the issue of compensability, for it makes no other mention of its exception to the findings at issue: "It is respectfully submitted that the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding (Findings of Fact #1,2,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,12,16,17, and 18; Findings of Law # 1,2,3,4,5,and 6) that Claimant sustained a change of condition for the worse under S.C. Code Ann. Sec. [sic] 42-17-90 as a result of her original November 3, 2009 accident at work, . . ." ⁴ (App. p. 18). That statement, itself

⁴ With the parenthetical information removed from this statement, it reads, "It is respectfully submitted that the Hearing Commissioner erred in finding . . . that Claimant sustained a change of condition for the worse under S.C. Code Ann. Sec. [sic] 42-17-90 as a result of her original November 3, 2009 accident at work, . . ." (App. p. 18). Therefore, Wal-Mart's 2013 Form 30 reads as if it only objects to the listed findings and conclusions to the extent they relate to the finding that "that Claimant sustained a change of condition for the worse under S.C. Code Ann.

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