IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2018

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Aisha Taylor, Commissioner  
Susan S. Barden, Chair/Commissioner  
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000354

---

Paula Russell,

Petitioner,

v.

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,

and

Illinois National Insurance Company,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Johnnie W. Baxley, III, Bar No. 008955  
Willson, Jones, Carter & Baxley  
421 Wando Park Blvd., Suite 100  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464  
(843) 284-1082  
[jwbaxley@wjlaw.net](mailto:jwbaxley@wjlaw.net)  
Attorney for Respondents

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY DISMISSED PETITIONER'S APPEAL AS INTERLOCUTORY.**

The South Carolina Court of Appeals, relying on long-standing precedent addressing the issue at bar, correctly dismissed Petitioner's appeal as interlocutory and not immediately reviewable under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (2005). The Court of Appeals pointedly stated, "A party who has exhausted all administrative remedies available within the agency and who is aggrieved by a *final* decision in a contested case is entitled to judicial review." (App. p. 248) (emphasis added). Respondents request that this Court affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals—and the subsequent denial of Petition for Rehearing—and dismiss the interlocutory appeal so that final adjudication of this matter can timely be made with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

#### **A. The Court of Appeals properly dismissed Petitioner's appeal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.**

As outlined above, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 requires both a "final decision" and that the petitioner exhaust all administrative remedies before an appeal can be entertained by the appellate courts. Numerous cases have expounded upon the meaning of final decision as it relates to appellate review; however, perhaps most helpful is the definition contained in Black's Law Dictionary, which defines a final judgment as "[a] court's last action that settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy, except for the award of costs (and, sometimes, attorney's fees) and enforcement of the judgment." *Black's Law Dictionary* 919 (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 2009). Importantly, "[t]o impose a changeable definition of a 'final judgment,' in the absence

of a statutory directive to do so, would create more, rather than less, uncertainty in appellate practice in this area.” *Bone*, 404 S.C. at 81, 744 S.E.2d at 560.

In *Bone*, the claimant filed a workers’ compensation claim alleging injury to her back. The single commissioner found that the claimant failed to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, a compensable injury by accident arising out of an in the course of her employment. The claimant appealed, and the Appellate Panel of the Commission upheld the single commissioner’s findings and conclusions. Under the procedure then in place, the claimant appealed to the circuit court. The circuit court reversed, finding that there was not substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of fact by the full Commission. The case was then remanded for further proceedings.

The defendants appealed to the Court of Appeals. The claimant moved to dismiss the appeal based upon the fact that the appeal was interlocutory and not immediately reviewable. The Court of Appeals agreed and granted the claimant’s motion to dismiss. Defendants’ petition for writ of certiorari was then granted. This Court started by noting the language of S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A). This Court noted that the order under review was the Court of Appeal’s dismissal of the appeal of the circuit court’s order remanding the matter and pointed out that, “[n]o award of any kind was made.” *Id.* It continued, “It is patently clear that the order from the circuit court remanding the matter to the Commission is not a final order. However, a preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy. Petitioners have an adequate remedy in that they may raise the issue of compensability on appeal of a final award.” *Id.*

In supporting its decision, the Court offered further clarification of the term of art “final judgment” and stated that the term had great legal significance. *Id.* at 75, 744 S.E.2d at 557 (citing *Good v. Hartford Accident and Indem. Co.*, 201 S.C. 32, 21 S.E.2d 209 (1942). “[H]olding if a judgment determines the applicable law while leaving open questions of fact, it is not a final judgment.”). Similar to the facts in *Bone*, considerable questions of fact remain on whether or not the Petitioner suffered a change of condition for the worse, and if she has, to what benefits she may be entitled. Also similar to the facts in *Bone*, there does not exist a final order which can properly be appealed. The order of the Commission dated September 15, 2017, which does not make a determination on the threshold issue of compensability and which does not make an award of benefits and instead remands both of those issues to a single commissioner for determination. Moreover, Petitioner has an adequate remedy in that she may raise the issue of compensability of her change of condition claim, and to what benefits she is entitled, on remand.

Respondents further rely on the holding in *Montjoy*, which offered additional insight as to the issue of interlocutory appeals. In that case, and similar to the facts in *Bone*, the circuit court remanded the case to the Workers’ Compensation Commission for further proceedings. The appellant filed an appeal, and the respondent filed a motion to dismiss the appeal on grounds that it was interlocutory. *Montjoy v. Asten-Hill Dryer Fabrics*, 316 S.C. 52, 446 S.E.2d 618 (1994). The Court of Appeals agreed and dismissed the appeal under the older, predecessor statute of S.C. Code. Ann. § 1-23-390, which this Court has noted is “substantially the same as the version applicable here.” *Id.* at 52, 446 S.E.2d at 618 and *Bone*, 404 S.C. at 76, 744 S.E.2d at 557. The Court stated, “[w]e have consistently held that an order from the circuit court remanding a case for additional proceedings before an administrative agency is not directly appealable.” *Montjoy* at 52, 446. S.E.2d at 618 (see also *Owens v. Canal Wood Corp.*, 281 S.C. 491, 316 S.E.2d 385

(1984); and *Hunt v. Whitt*, 279 S.C. 343, 306 S.E.2d 621 (1981)). Again, this Court has held countless times that appeals, without a final agency decision disposing of the outstanding issues in controversy, are interlocutory and not subject to appellate review. The case at bar fits squarely within the facts and reasoning of the Court in both *Bone* and *Montjoy*, and, as such, should be dismissed.

**B. The Court of Appeals did not misapprehend or overlook *Hilton*.**

Petitioner asks this Court to blindly rely upon the holding of *Hilton v. Flakeboard America Ltd.*, 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719 (2016) without considering the underlying facts and whether or not the holding is applicable to factual scenario this claim. The *Hilton* narrow exception does not apply to this case. In fact, the decisions in *Bone v. U.S. Food Service and Indemnity Insurance Company of North America*, 399 S.C. 566, 733 S.E.2d 200 (2012) and *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 692 S.E.2d 894 (2010) are much more applicable to the facts on this claim.

In *Hilton*, the main issue was whether the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement (“MMI”) such that he was no longer entitled to additional medical treatment. The single commissioner found that claimant had not reached MMI and further found that any misrepresentations the claimant made were due to a cognitive deficit resulting from an unrelated injury. Defendants appealed and raised four general exceptions and 102 specific exceptions to the single commissioner’s order, but none of the exceptions raised the issue of the claimant’s competency. *Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd.*, 418 S.C. 245, 247, 791 S.E.2d 719, 720 (2016). The full Commission vacated and remanded the case to the single commissioner for an adjudication on claimant’s competency and whether or not claimant needed a guardian ad litem. *Hilton*, 418 S.C. at 248, 791 S.E.2d at 721.

This Court first noted that only issues raised to the Commission within the application for review are preserved. *Id.* at 249, 791 S.E.2d at 721 (citing *Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co.*, 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1952)). This Court then clarified, “Under these *unique circumstances* where the Commission has ordered the relitigation of the entire dispute without regard to the matters raised by the appealing party, we find that requiring [claimant] to wait until the final agency decision to appeal would not provide him with an adequate remedy. Prior to the Commission’s order, *no issue regarding Hilton’s competency had been raised by the attorneys for either party.*” *Id.* at 250, 791 S.E.2d at 722 (emphasis added). This Court further elucidated its holding and highlighted the Commission’s error in *ex mero motu* ordering that defendants provide claimant with a doctor of defendants’ choosing despite no such request being made by defendants. *Id.*

In *Hilton*, the full Commission decided an issue sua sponte. The Court stated, “ Under these unique circumstances where the Commission has ordered the relitigation of the entire dispute without regard to the matters raised by the appealing party, we find that requiring Hilton to wait until the final agency decision to appeal would not provide him with an adequate remedy. *Hilton*, 418 S.C. at 250, 791 S.E.2d at 722. Indeed, the court in *Hilton* warned, “We caution that circumstances such as these that will permit the immediate appeal of an interlocutory administrative decision under section 1-23-380(A) ‘are about as rare as the proverbial hens’ teeth.”” *Id.* at 251, 791 S.E.2d at 723 (citing *State v. Lytchfield*, 230 S.C. 405, 409, 95 S.E.2d 857, 859 (1957)).

In the current case, the Commission did not raise any issues sua sponte. The only issues for determination in the case at bar are whether the Appellant’s change of condition claim is compensable and, if so, what benefits she is entitled to. Those are the exact issues that have been appealed and have been in controversy during the entirety of this claim.

**C. The Commission did not rule on any issues that were not properly preserved.**

In attempting to argue that the Commission considered issues which were not properly raised, and that the *Hilton* exception applies, Petitioner argues that Respondents had not properly preserved its appeal of an award of benefits in 2013, thereby not preserving the issue of an award of benefits in 2017. This argument is both factually and legally incorrect.

First, the Respondents properly appealed and preserved for appellate review the issues of compensability of the change of condition and an award of benefits in 2013. The only evidentiary hearing in this case was conducted by Commissioner Andrea Roche on February 11, 2013. On August 5, 2013, Commissioner Roche found that the Appellant sustained a change of condition for the worse and ordered Respondents to provide medical treatment and temporary total disability benefits. Respondents appealed the order to the full Commission. In the Form 30 appeal that was filed on August 9, 2013, Respondents specifically appealed the findings that Claimant sustained a compensable change of condition for the worse and the award of benefits, specifically including Finding #12 (The defendant shall provide medical care and attention pursuant to Claimant's change of condition) and Finding #16 (The defendant shall provide temporary total disability benefits from December 1, 2011 through the present date and continuing). Respondents specifically appealed the award of medical treatment and the award of temporary benefits based upon the finding of a compensable change of condition. On January 30, 2014, the full Commission found that the Appellant failed to prove that she sustained a compensable change of condition for the worse and found that Appellant was not entitled to any benefits under the Act. Because the full Commission found that the claimant had not sufficiently proven the threshold issue of a compensable change of condition for the worse, they did not make specific findings of fact or conclusions of law on the award of benefits as there was no

need to reach those issues in light of their ruling on the threshold compensability issue. However, it is inarguable that the Respondents clearly appealed the award of medical care and temporary compensation, as well as the threshold issue of a compensable change of condition, after the first evidentiary hearing in 2013. The order from the full Commission on January 30, 2014 reversed and vacated any award of benefits on this case based upon the threshold finding that a compensable change of condition had not been proven. (App. pp. 40 – 41). Once the full Commission issued its order, the previous findings of Commissioner Roche were null and void. *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 535 S.E.2d 438 (2000) (holding that, “in workers’ compensation cases, the full Commission is the ultimate fact finder.”); see also *Hunter v. Patrick Constr. Co.*, 289 S.C. 46, 344 S.E.2d 613 (1986).

Second, Petitioner argues in her brief that the findings of Commissioner Roche regarding award of benefits in her order dated August 5, 2013, were not properly appealed and became the law of the case and, right or wrong, cannot be altered. That argument is incorrect. As indicated above, the findings of Commissioner Roche regarding award of benefits were properly appealed and they were reversed and vacated by the full Commission. Those findings do not become the law of the case, but were actually reversed and vacated by the full Commission. It is the order of the full Commission, denying a compensable change of condition and awarding no benefits, that became the law of the case. See *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 535 S.E.2d 438 (2000).

Third, Petitioner argues that Respondents chose not to appeal the award of benefits and that respondents abandoned the award of benefits in 2013. That argument is factually incorrect and a misstatement of the procedural history of this claim. The award of benefits has been properly raised as an issue on appeal at every opportunity. Obviously, more attention has been paid to the threshold issue as to whether or not the change of condition claim is compensable in

the first place, but at no point has the award of benefits been abandoned or not been appealed. As has long been the history with jurisprudence in this state, once the threshold issue has been determined by the appellate body, that body need not consider remaining issues which are rendered irrelevant by the initial threshold ruling.

Fourth, after Commissioner Campbell issued an order on March 20, 2017, without an evidentiary hearing, Respondents again appealed and asserted that the award of medical treatment and temporary compensation was in error and asserted that they had been denied their due process rights by reinstatement of a previously reversed award as opposed to having a new evidentiary hearing. Again, the award of medical care and temporary compensation were specifically appealed. Respondents, pursuant to S.C Code Ann. Regs. 67-613(A), specifically delineated Grounds for Review in the form of questions presented appealing the award of benefits under various grounds. (App. pp. 146 – 151). Those same exceptions were also briefed and argued. (App. 160-162).

Petitioner focuses on Respondents' appeal to Commissioner Roche's order dated August 5, 2013, (App. p. 17) but fails to give due regard to the fact that the current matter relates to Commissioner Campbell's order dated March 20, 2017 (App. p. 145). Commissioner Campbell's Order blind reinstatement of four-year-old findings with no evidentiary basis and concluding that Petitioner suffered a change of condition for the worse—without complying with the instructions from the court of appeals as it relates to the correct evidentiary standard—is the Order which was appealed in the current matter. Again, Defendants provided detailed grounds for review and specifically appealed, briefed, and argued those findings. (App. pp. 146 – 151).

**D. Due process requires a new evidentiary hearing before any award of benefits can be made**

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